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REVENUE AND EARNINGS* FIRST 
HALF 2015

FIRST 
HALF 2014

CHANGE 
in percent

  Q2 
2015

Q2 
2014

CHANGE
in percent

Consolidated revenue in EUR million 54.7 52.9 3 24.3 24.1 1
Group operating EBITDA in EUR million 4.1 9.7 -58 0.5 4.5 -88
Group operating EBIT in EUR million 0.9 6.8 -88 -1.1 3.1 –
Consolidated financial result in EUR million -0.7 -2.4 – -0.4 -1.4 –
Group operating EBT  in EUR million 0.2 4.4 -96 -1.4 1.7 –

Consolidated operating profit/(loss) 
after taxes from continuing operations in EUR million -0.5 2,3 – -1.5 0.6 –

Consolidated operating profit/(loss) 
after taxes from discontinued operations in EUR million 17.3 -4.4 – 17.4 -0.3 –

Consolidated operating profit/(loss) 
after taxes in EUR million 16.8 -2.1 – 15.9 0.3 –

Operating earnings per share from 
continuing operations in EUR -0.01 0.04 – -0.03 0.01 –

Earnings per share from 
discontinued operations in EUR 0.30 -0.07 – 0.30 -0.01 –

Earnings per share in EUR 0.25 -0.01 – 0.26 0.03 –

Travel segment external revenue in EUR million 54.6 52.7 4 24.4 24.0 1
Travel segment EBITDA in EUR million 7.0 12.7 -44 2.0 6.0 -67

Holding/Other segment external revenue in EUR million 0.1 0.2 -42 0.1 0.1 –
Holding/Other segment EBITDA in EUR million -5.4 -1.5 – -2.2 -0.1 –

CASH-FLOW 30 JUNE 
2015

30 JUNE
2014

CHANGE
 in percent

Cash flow from operating activities in EUR million -2.8 3,3 –
Cash flow from investing activities in EUR million 22.2 -5,1 –
Cash flow from financing activities in EUR million -24.0 -4,4 –

KEY CAPITAL MARKET DATA 

Equity ratio in percent 61 54 +7
Debt ratio in percent 39 46 -7

EMPLOYEES  
(FROM CONTINUING OPER ATIONS)

Average number of employees (FTEs) in the first 
six months  2015 387 372 +4

ASSETS AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE 30 JUNE
2015

31 DECEMBER 
2014

CHANGE
 in percent

Total assets in EUR million 230.3 233.9 -2
Non-current assets in EUR million 141.4 177.5 -20
Current assets in EUR million 88.9 56.4 +58
thereof cash as at 30 June 2015 / 31 December 2014 in EUR million 21.9 26.6 -18
Equity in EUR million 140.7 125.5 +12
Debt in EUR million 89.6 108.4 -17

Key figures

*  Earnings adjusted in the first six months for income (+)/expenses (-) in relation to long-term incentive plans: 
first half 2014: EUR -1.4 million; first half 2015: EUR 2.5 million 
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** As at 4 June 2014; no guarantee of completeness

*  Earnings adjusted in the first six months for income (+)/expenses (-) in relation to long-term incentive plans: 
first half 2014: EUR -1.4 million; first half 2015: EUR 2.5 million 
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TOMORROW FOCUS AG

One of the leading  
German Internet travel companies

 26
  Munich

S EG M E N T

Holding / Other

Tomorrow Travel Solutions  
GmbH

Development of software solutions 
and technologies for hotel review and 
booking portals.

 39
 Munich

54.8 Million
Revenue 

1. HY. 2015

 361

Monetisation 
Commission-

based revenues

S EG M E N T

Travel

The TOMORROW FOCUS group
 Employees 1 HY 2015, Full-time equivalent 
  Location

WebAssets B. V.

Operator of the largest hotel review commu-
nity in the Benelux area and of the internatio-
nal weather portal Meteovista.

 64
  Zeist, Netherlands

Tomorrow Travel B. V.

Operator of the Dutch 
online travel agency Tjingo

 7
  Zeist, Netherlands

HolidayCheck AG

The largest hotel review community in the  
German-speaking area and operator of the  
MietwagenCheck portal.

 251
   Bottighofen, Switzerland;  
Posnan and Warsaw, Poland
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FO R M E R

 S EG M E N T

Subscription

Monetisation 

Subscription-
based revenues

Germany’s largest doctor 
review portal

  Munich

jameda GmbH

Online matchmaking service for 
academics and upscale singles

  Hamburg

EliteMedianet GmbH

Online service for intelligent
document storage

  Munich

organize.me GmbH

Investments 
held for sale



As you know, the process of disposing of our publishing acti-
vities was completed at the end of April. Just two months later, 
we were able to announce the sale of EliteMedianet GmbH. 

This means that in the second quarter of 2015 we made con-
siderable progress in the strategic realignment of our travel 
business. From now on, we will devote our full attention to the 
Travel segment. We intend to respond forcefully to the incre-
asing competition while harnessing growth opportunities as 
effectively as possible. 

Disposal of ElitePartner

EliteMedianet GmbH, which operates the popular online 
dating agency ElitePartner, was acquired in June by 
THMMS Holding GmbH, a subsidiary of Oakley Capital 
Private Equity II. 
 With its financial strength, we believe that Oakley Capi-
tal is the ideal partner for EliteMedianet GmbH. Under the 
management of its new owner, which also acquired Parship 
GmbH in April, we believe that ElitePartner has excellent pro-
spects for growth. The deal is subject to approval under anti-
cartel legislation. Assuming this approval is granted, the sale 
is expected to close in the fourth quarter of 2015.

Negotiations for sale of jameda and 
organize.me – Focus on travel operations

Negotiations are currently under way for the sale of jameda 
and organize.me, the two remaining companies in the Sub-
scription segment. In both cases, there has been consi-
derable interest from potential buyers. Assuming the prices 
offered are acceptable, we expect to close these deals by the 
end of the year. 

In light of the disposal of EliteMedianet GmbH and the on-
going sale negotiations for jameda and organize.me, we have 
decided to wind up the Subscription segment entirely. In line 
with IFRS rules, jameda and organize.me will be classed for 
the time being as ‘held for sale’.
 As such, TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s operating activities 
will now be concentrated in the Travel segment with the 
brands HolidayCheck, MeteoVista, MietwagenCheck, Tjingo 
and Zoover. 

2015 half-year results

On the operating side, our revenue figures in the first half-
year reflect growing competition in the market. Conso-
lidated revenue for the second quarter rose by around 
3 percent compared with the same period in 2014 to reach 
EUR 54.7 million. However, this modest increase was accom-
panied by a significant rise in costs, and the operating result 
was therefore below our expectations. One of the main factors 
here was a substantial appreciation of the Swiss franc against 

Dear Shareholders,

Letter to 
shareholders
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L ET T E R  TO  S H A R E H O L D E R S



Dr Dirk Schmelzer
Chief Financial Officer

the euro. The resulting increase in personnel and rental costs 
at HolidayCheck AG, based in Bottighofen (Switzerland) 
reduced the Group’s total earnings by around EUR 1.7 million. 
In response, we plan to scale back our Swiss franc exposure 
considerably over the coming months. 
 At the same time, the German-language travel sector 
experienced strong marketing competition between the lea-
ding travel portal operators in the first half of 2015. One ef-
fect of this was to drive up prices for Google’s auction-based 
AdWords service and therefore increase marketing costs 
at HolidayCheck.

Focus on product development

Thanks primarily to its comprehensive and high-quality rating 
content, HolidayCheck is Germany’s leading travel portal in 
terms of reach. That puts us in an ideal starting position, 
especially in comparison with many of our competitors who 
have to rely more extensively on marketing. Our challenge 
is to generate more actual bookings from the large number 
of people who use HolidayCheck. The key here is to offer a 
unique, tailored and therefore very user-friendly product 
that stands out from the uniform portals operated by many 
of our competitors. To this end, we plan to invest heavily over 
the coming months in measures to further develop our on-
line travel portfolio and service with appropriate marketing 
support. We believe this will allow us to attract new target 
groups, and thus achieve a sustained increase in revenue. 

Our conviction is backed up by the statistics. According 
to the latest figures published by the German market 
research institute GfK, around 70 percent of Germans still 
book their package tours with high street travel agents, 
albeit in many cases after conducting online research. 
This suggests that there is enormous potential for growth. 
At TOMORROW FOCUS AG, we will use every means at our 
disposal to exploit that potential. 

 

Yours sincerely,

The Management Board

TOMORROW FOCUS AG | Q2 2015

Christoph Schuh
Management Board Member
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Investor relations report for the 
first half of 2015
Dear Shareholders,

In the second quarter of 2015 we continued to maintain 
regular and transparent contact with investors, analysts and 
business journalists.
In terms of investor communications, the main event in the 
reporting period was our TOMORROW FOCUS Capital 
Markets Day 2015 in the German city of Munich on 22 May. 
The event was attended by around 30 institutional investors 
and analysts. Over the course of the day, we explained our 
strategy of concentrating on digital transaction-based busi-
ness models, primarily in the travel sector. 

This year’s annual general meeting of the shareholders of 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG was held at the Haus der Baye-
rischen Wirtschaft in Munich, Germany, on 16 June. In line 
with the pleasing record of high attendance in previous 
years, the shareholders and shareholder representatives 
at the meeting accounted for around 83 percent of the 
company’s share capital with voting rights.
All the items on the agenda requiring approval were adopted 
by clear majorities. The shareholders present at the general 
meeting elected Aliz Tepfenhart and Dr. Thomas Döring to 
the company’s Supervisory Board. The elections became 
necessary after the announcements by Martin Weiß and 
Philipp Welte that they intended to step down at the end of 
the annual general meeting. 
Resolutions to approve the actions of the Management 
Board and the Supervisory Board were passed by large 
majorities.
A resolution authorising the Management Board once again 
to acquire and use the company’s own shares was approved 
by a majority of 99.56 percent. As a result, should it become 
necessary, TOMORROW FOCUS AG is now authorised to 

buy back shares in the company worth up to 10 percent of its 
share capital at the time of the resolution. 
The annual general meeting also approved by a clear 
majority a resolution authorising the Management Board 
once again to issue convertible bonds and/or bonds with 
warrants.
A detailed breakdown of the voting results for each agenda 
item and a transcript of the presentation made to the share-
holders at the general meeting can be found at www.tomor-
row-focus.com under the heading Investor Relations.

As part of our investor relations work in the second quarter of 
2015, we also held an investor roadshow in Edinburgh (UK) 
and attended investor conferences in Baden-Baden 
(Germany) and London (UK).
As well as information about the annual general meeting and 
our company reports, you will find a wealth of information 
about the company at www.tomorrow-focus.com. By way 
of example, our website contains presentations covering im-
portant investor events and roadshows.
For regular and fascinating insights into the world of 
TOMORROW FOCUS, you can also visit our social media 
channels on Facebook, Twitter, XING and Google+. We are 
always delighted to welcome new followers.

Yours sincerely,

Armin Blohmann

I N V E STO R  R E L AT I O N S

Investor & Public Relations contact

Armin Blohmann
phone: +49 (0) 89 9250-1256
fax: +49 (0) 89 9250-2403
email: a.blohmann@tomorrow-focus.de

Sabine Wodarz
phone: +49 (0) 89 9250-1208
fax: +49 (0) 89 9250-2403
email: s.wodarz@tomorrow-focus.de 

TOMORROW FOCUS AG
Neumarkter Straße 61
81673 Munich, Germany

www.tomorrow-focus.de
www.facebook.de/tomorrowfocus
www.twitter.com/tomorrowfocus
www.youtube.com/tomorrowfocus
www.plus.google.com/tomorrowfocus 



* as at 3 July 2015  ** as at 4 June 2014 (No guarantee is assumed for completeness.)

Free float  
41.0 %

Burda Digital  
GmbH 
58.8 %**

Management Board 
and Supervisory Board 
0.2 %*

TOMORROW FOCUS share price performance chart for the first six months of 2015

Shareholder structure (rounded)Latest TOMORROW FOCUS share 
price ratings by analysts*

RECOMMEN-
DATION

PRICE 
TARGET

Bankhaus Lampe Research hold 5.50 €
Deutsche Bank hold 4.20 €
Hauck & Aufhäuser Research buy 6.50 €
HSBC Global Research buy 5.80 €
Warburg Research hold 6.00 €

*  as at 16 July 2015; No guarantee is assumed for completeness 
of the information provided.

KEYDATA

TOMORROW FOCUS SHARE 
PRICE PERFORMANCE ON 
THE XETRA TRADING PLATFORM

German securities code (WKN): 549532 Starting price 2015                 3.65 €

ISIN: DE0005495329 First half 2015 low                 3.57 €
Stock exchange symbol: TFA First half 2015 high                 5.65 €
Stock exchange segment: Prime Standard Closing price first half 2015       4.35 €
Indices: CDAX, Technology All Share, Prime All Share First half 2015 share
Designated Sponsor: HSBC Trinkaus price performance                               +19.2 %

Number of shares at 30 June 2015: 58,313,628 no-par value bearer shares
Market capitalisation: EUR 291.6 million (as at 30 June 2015) 

Key TOMORROW FOCUS share data 

Euro  

5.0

4.5

4.0

3.5
Feb Mar Apr May June
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TOMORROW FOCUS Group 
management report for the 
first half of 2015

12
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1. Group structure and business model

1.1  Organisational structure 

TOMORROW FOCUS AG is an internet group with operations 
in Central, Western and Eastern Europe. Its core activities are 
in the field of travel. Some of our brands have established a 
market-leading position. We have been an exchange-listed 
internet company for around fifteen years. In the first half of 
2015, our average workforce was 387 full-time equivalents 
(excluding employees in discontinued or ‘held-for-sale’ busi-
ness units) at five locations in Germany, the Netherlands, 
Poland and Switzerland. In the first half of financial 2015 we ge-
nerated consolidated revenue of EUR 54.7 million. We operate 
over forty European and international internet portals

1.2  Segments

The Publishing segment was wound up following the sale of 
TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH and the Group’s resul-
ting withdrawal from its main publishing operations. 

The Subscription segment was wound up following the sale 
of EliteMedianet GmbH (operator of the premium online 
dating agency ELITEPARTNER.de) on 8 June 2015 and the 
decision by TOMORROW FOCUS AG to initiate the dispo-
sal of the segment’s remaining companies, JAMEDA GmbH 
(operator of the physician rating portal JAMEDA.de) and 
ORGANIZE.ME GmbH (operator of an app-based document 
storage and reminder system).

This consolidated management report therefore contains key 
financial indicators for just two segments:
- Travel
- Holding/Other

In terms of geographic segmentation as at 30 June 2015, 
TOMORROW FOCUS was subdivided into National and 
International.

1.3  Description of business operations

Travel segment
The Travel segment encompasses all the companies that mainly 
generate revenue from transaction-based online business 
models in the field of travel. 

HolidayCheck AG (Bottighofen, Switzerland), Tomorrow 
Travel B.V. (Woerden, Netherlands) and WebAssets B.V. (Zeist, 
Netherlands) operate a range of hotel rating and holiday boo-
king portals that generate revenue in the form of commission 
for package tours and hotel bookings and from website links 
that take visitors to other booking portals.

The core sales markets for these web portals are Austria, 
Belgium, Germany, the Netherlands, Poland and Switzerland.

WebAssets B.V. operates advertising-based weather portals 
through its subsidiary MeteoVista B.V., which now also forms 
part of the Travel segment following the winding up of the 
Publishing segment. Income is mainly derived from online 
advertising. The core sales markets are Belgium, Germany 
and the Netherlands.

In the first half of 2015 the Travel segment generated external 
revenue of EUR 54.6 million (first half 2014: EUR 52.7 million).

Holding/Other segment
Following the sale of Cellular GmbH in December 2014, 
the Holding/Other segment is now made up solely of the 
non-operating companies TOMORROW FOCUS AG and 
TF Digital GmbH, both of which are based in the German city of 
Munich. Neither of these companies generated any significant 
amounts of revenue in the first half of 2015 or 2014.
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1.4   Research and development
activities

Development activities in the Travel segment are conducted on 
a decentralised basis within the Group companies. To a large 
extent, TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s subsidiaries draw on their 
own development resources. The work performed by Group 
employees in this field is capitalised as software developed 
in-house, while the remaining work is recognised as personnel 
costs. Whenever subsidiaries make use of externally supplied 
development services that work is also capitalised, while the 
remaining development costs are recognised under cost of 
materials. In general, there are no specific research expenses.  

2.  Economic report

2.1  Macro-economic and 
industry situation

2.1.1  Macro-economic situation

According to Deutsche Bank’s global market research 
report, the TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s core sales markets 
will experience a modest economic recovery in the current 
financial year. Inflation-adjusted gross domestic product 
(GDP) in the Netherlands should rise by 1.9 percent (GDP 2014: 
up 0.9 percent). The analysts predict inflation-adjusted growth 
in Belgian GDP of 1.3 percent (GDP 2014: 1.1 percent). 
Again after adjusting for inflation, economic growth in Aus-
tria should reach 0.5 percent (GDP 2014: 0.3 percent). 
The 2015 forecast for Germany is 1.6 percent (GDP 2014:  
1.6 percent), while Switzerland’s total output is expected to 
grow by 0.8 percent (GDP 2014: 2.0 percent). 
 The GDP figures quoted above are based on esti-
mates derived from Deutsche Bank’s global market research 
and were published on 17 July 2015.

2.1.2  Industry situation
The core markets targeted by the Travel segment’s transaction-
based travel portals recorded moderate growth in the first half 
of 2015. 
 Compared with the same period in 2014, competitive 
pressures in the segment’s core sales markets were higher, 
largely as a result of increased marketing expenditure and the 
entry of new competitors. Despite this, based on assessments 
by the companies concerned, TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s travel 
portals were able to maintain their respective market positions.
 These assessments are based on the company’s own 
estimates.

2.2  Business developments 
and performance

Overall, the first six months of 2015 were not in line with the 
Management Board’s expectations. In particular, there was 
greater competition in key business areas, and this led to a 
higher-than-average increase in marketing expenditure. 

2.2.1  Business developments

Holding/Other segment

TOMORROW FOCUS AG agrees sale of TOMORROW 
FOCUS Publishing GmbH to Burda Digital GmbH in order 
to concentrate on transaction-based business models
On 20 March 2015 TOMORROW FOCUS AG signed an 
agreement with Burda Digital GmbH covering the sale of 
TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH, which is home to the 
TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s publishing activities including 
the news portal FOCUS Online; the German-language edition 
of The Huffington Post, a news portal and platform for blogs; 
the financial and stock market information portal Finanzen100; 
the parent portal NetMoms; and TOMORROW FOCUS Media, 
which specialises in digital marketing.

The agreed purchase price consideration of EUR 30.2 million 
valued the company at 8.6 times its EBITDA for 2014. Un-
der IFRS rules, the book profit of the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group from this deconsolidation was EUR 21.2 million. In the 
single-entity financial statements of TOMORROW FOCUS AG 
based on the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, 
HGB), the book profit was EUR 2.9 million. The transaction was 
completed on 30 April 2015.

The cash inflow will be used to pay off a bonded loan of 
EUR 14.5 million that is due to mature in 2016 and to ge-
nerate further growth in the Travel segment. In financial 
2014, the activities of the company that will be sold con-
tributed EUR 29.7 million to the Group’s total revenue and 
EUR 3.5 million to consolidated EBITDA.

EliteMedianet GmbH sold to Oakley Capital Private Equity
In June 2015 TOMORROW FOCUS AG announced a deal to 
sell EliteMedianet GmbH, which operates the online dating 
agency ElitePartner, to THMMS Holding GmbH, a subsidiary 
of the private equity firm Oakley Capital Private Equity II. The 
sale reflects TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s strategic realignment 
towards transaction-based business models centred on the 
travel industry.

ElitePartner is one of the leading online dating agencies in the 
German-speaking region of Europe. The service was launched 
in Germany in 2004 and in Austria and Switzerland a year later. 
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The company is based in Hamburg, Germany, and has a work-
force of around eighty. In the financial year 2014 EliteMedianet 
generated revenue in the region of EUR 28 million and EBITDA 
of EUR 2.6 million. 

Oakley Capital is a private equity firm based in London, UK, 
and the Oakley Capital Group has assets under management 
of around EUR 750 million. It invests primarily in fast-growing 
companies based in the UK or in other countries in Western 
Europe. In April 2015, Oakley Capital acquired Parship GmbH, 
which operates an online dating agency by the same name. 

Depending on the final closing date of the transaction (the 
figures shown below are estimated projections for 31 October 
2015), the sale of EliteMedianet GmbH is expected to generate 
a total of EUR 22.1 million for TOMORROW FOCUS AG based 
on an anticipated presumable sale price of EUR 20.9 million. 
An amount of EUR 14.5 million is payable on completion of the 
sale. TOMORROW FOCUS AG will provide a loan with a term of 
up to two years to cover the remaining sum of EUR 6.5 million. 
 On scheduled repayment of this loan at the end of the 
term, TOMORROW FOCUS AG will also receive interest due of 
up to EUR 1.2 million. The total figure is equivalent to 9 times 
the EBITDA generated by EliteMedianet GmbH in 2014. 
 Between 2007 and 2015, the company will have 
generated and transferred to the Group an accumulated net 
cash inflow of around EUR 13 million. 

At Group level, the sale of EliteMedianet GmbH will produce 
an estimated loss of around EUR 2.6 million. As EliteMedianet 
GmbH is now classed as a ‘held for sale’ operation, goodwill 
was written down by the same amount in the second quar-
ter of 2015. In TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s single-entity fi-
nancial statements based on the German Commercial Code 
(Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB), the sale is expected to have a neu-
tral impact on Group earnings. The disposal will necessitate a 
valuation adjustment on deconsolidation of EUR 3 million to 
deferred taxes on loss carryforwards.

The acquisition of EliteMedianet GmbH by Oakley Capital 
Private Equity is subject to approval under anti-cartel legislation. 
Assuming this approval is granted, the sale is expected to close 
in the fourth quarter of 2015.

Publishing segment wound up
Following the sale of TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH 
and its subsidiaries, they were classed in the first quarter as 
discontinued operations. This entailed winding up the Group’s 
Publishing segment completely. MeteoVista B.V., which ope-
rates a range of weather portals, will now be shown in the Travel 
segment together with the adjusted figures for the previous 
year. The companies were deconsolidated on 30 April 2015.

Subscription segment wound up 
The Subscription segment was wound up following the sale 
of EliteMedianet GmbH (operator of the premium online 
dating agency ELITEPARTNER.de) on 8 June 2015 and 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s decision to initiate the sale of its 
remaining subsidiaries in this segment, i.e. JAMEDA GmbH, 
which operates the physician rating portal JAMEDA.de, and 
ORGANIZE.ME GmbH, which operates an app-based 
document organisation and reminder system.

From 30 June 2015 onwards, the Group’s segment reports will 
be based on the following structure:

The Travel segment will bring together the following 
subsidiaries:
- HolidayCheck AG (Bottighofen, Switzerland)
-  WebAssets B.V. (Zeist, Netherlands) including its subsidiary 

MeteoVista B.V.  (Zeist, Netherlands)
- TOMORROW Travel B.V. (Zeist, Netherlands)
- TOMORROW Travel Solutions GmbH (Munich, Germany)

The Holding/Other segment is made up of the following 
companies: 

- TOMORROW FOCUS AG (Munich, Germany)
- TF Digital GmbH (Munich, Germany)

The following companies were classed as ‘held-for-sale’ opera-
tions and are therefore no longer included in the latest segment 
reports

- EliteMedianet GmbH, Hamburg, Germany
- jameda GmbH, Munich, Germany
- organize.me GmbH, Munich, Germany
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Successful annual general meeting
This year’s annual general meeting of the shareholders of 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG was held at the Haus der Baye-
rischen Wirtschaft in Munich, Germany, on 16 June. In line with 
the pleasing record of high attendance in previous years, the 
shareholders and shareholder representatives at the meeting 
accounted for around 83 percent of the company’s share capital 
with voting rights. All the items on the agenda requiring approval 
were adopted by clear majorities. 

The shareholders present at the general meeting elected 
Aliz Tepfenhart and Dr Thomas Döring to the company’s 
Supervisory Board. The elections became necessary after the 
announcements by Martin Weiß and Philipp Welte that they 
intended to step down at the end of the annual general meeting. 
 Aliz Tepfenhart is Managing Director at Burda Digital 
GmbH, a subsidiary of Hubert Burda Media that brings together 
digital companies and brands with a B2C focus.
 Dr Thomas Döring is a co-founder and managing 
partner of the venture capital company Delaunay Capital.

Resolutions to approve the actions of the Management Board 
and the Supervisory Board were passed by large majorities.

A resolution authorising the Management Board once again 
to acquire and use the company’s own shares was approved 
by a majority of 99.56 percent. As a result, should it become 
necessary, TOMORROW FOCUS AG is now authorised to buy 
back shares in the company worth up to 10 percent of its share 
capital at the time of the resolution. 
 The annual general meeting also approved by a clear 
majority a resolution authorising the Management Board once 
again to issue convertible bonds and/or bonds with warrants.
 A detailed breakdown of the voting results for each 
agenda item and a transcript of the presentation made to the 
shareholders at the 2015 annual general meeting can be 
found at www.tomorrow-focus.com under the heading 
Investor Relations.

Change in composition of the Management Board 
By mutual agreement with the Supervisory Board, former 
Chief Executive Officer Toon Bouten stepped down from the 
Management Board of TOMORROW FOCUS AG with effect 
from 30 June 2015. As previously reported, Toon Bouten infor-
med the Supervisory Board at the beginning of April 2015 that 
he did not plan to extend his service contract, which was due to 
end on 31 March 2016. The Supervisory Board of TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG will make a decision on his successor before the end 
of the year. The other Members of the Management Board, Dr 
Dirk Schmelzer and Christoph Schuh, will remain in their posts. 

Travel segment

Anja Keckeisen appointed CEO at HolidayCheck AG 
Anja Keckeisen was appointed to the position of CEO at 
HolidayCheck AG in June 2015. She has taken over from  
Gilles Despas, who stepped down at his own request after three 
years. Anja Keckeisen previously held the positions of Managing 
Director and Chief Commercial Officer at HolidayCheck AG 
from 2014. 

SEGMENT TR AVEL PUBLISHING SUBSCRIPTION HOLDING/OTHER

KEY BR ANDS

HolidayCheck TOMORROW FOCUS Media ElitePartner TOMORROW FOCUS AG
MietwagenCheck Focus Online jameda  TF Digital
Zoover Amica Online organize.me
Tjingo Netmoms  

Finanzen100  

The Huffington Post  
Deutschland  

Meteovista    

Previous segment structure of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group 
(up to financial 2014, including discontinued operations)

SEGMENT TR AVEL HOLDING/OTHER

KEY BR ANDS

HolidayCheck TOMORROW FOCUS AG
MietwagenCheck  TF Digital
Zoover
Tjingo  
Meteovista  

Segment structure of the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group (excluding discontinued operations)
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Before joining the company, she built up the travel por-
tal Expedia’s German operations and went on to lead the 
German company as Vice President and Country Manager from 
2001 to 2006. She later worked as a freelance consultant and 
interim manager at various companies in the tourism industry. 
As Interim Director, for example, she was in charge of Thomas 
Cook’s German e-commerce business and developed online 
sales strategies for Europäische Reiseversicherung AG.

2.2.2  Performance

The following comparisons of income and assets are based in 
all cases on continuing operations.

2.2.2.1  Income

2.2.2.1.1 Revenue

At EUR 54.7 million, consolidated revenue in the first half 
of 2015 was 3.4 percent higher compared with the figure of 
EUR 52.9 million for the same period in 2014. 
 Consolidated revenue in the second quarter of 2015 
rose by 0.8 percent year-on-year from EUR 24.1 million in 2014 
to EUR 24.3 million in 2015. 

Revenue in the Travel segment rose by 3.6 percent from 
EUR 52.7 million in the first half of 2014 to EUR 54.6 million in 
the period under review.
 At EUR 24.2 million, second-quarter revenue in the 
Travel segment was up 1.0 percent in 2015 compared with the 
figure of EUR 24.0 million for the same period in 2014. 
Against a background of sluggish macro-economic and indus-
try conditions in the Netherlands, the revenue generated by 
WebAssets B.V.’s travel operations was slightly down on 2014, 
while revenues at Tomorrow Travel B.V. ended the period much 
lower year on year. 
 To date, the portfolio of tour operators marketing their 
holidays through the TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s booking 
platforms is almost unchanged on the previous year.

2.2.2.1.2  Consolidated statement of income

The earnings figures for the first six months of 2015 include 
a number of exceptional items. The main details are outlined 
below.

The appreciation of the Swiss franc against the euro had a 
substantial impact on the Group’s key earnings figures for the 
period under review and reduced total consolidated earnings 
by EUR 1.7 million (of which EUR 1.1 million in the first quarter 
of 2015 and EUR 0.6 million in the second quarter of 2015). 
Additions to liabilities from share-based payment transactions 

(LTIP) as a result of essential adjustments to valuation para-
meters (primarily due to an increase in the share price and 
additions to the 2015 tranche) reduced total consolidated 
earnings by a further EUR 1.0 million in the first half-year 
(of which EUR 1.5 million in the first quarter of 2015, partly 
offset by income of 0.5 million in the second quarter). Group 
restructuring costs for the first half-year came to EUR 1.2 mil-
lion (of which EUR 1.0 million in the second quarter of 2015). 
Finally, the partial waiver of loan receivables from a managing 
director at WebAssets B.V. in respect of an employee stock 
option plan created salary expenses of EUR 0.2 million.

Group EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 
and amortisation) from continuing operations in the first half 
of 2015 stood at EUR 1.6 million, down 85.6 percent on the 
previous year’s six-month total of EUR 11.1 million. 
 Group EBITDA from continuing operations in the 
second quarter of 2015 was minus EUR 0.2 million compared 
with EUR 6.0 million in the same quarter of 2014.

Group operating EBITDA from continuing operations in the 
first half of 2015 stood at EUR 4.1 million, down 57.7 percent 
on the previous year’s six-month total of EUR 9.7 million. 
 At EUR 0.5 million, Group operating EBITDA from 
continuing operations in the second quarter of 2015 was 
88.9 percent lower compared with EUR 4.5 million in the same 
quarter of 2014.

Group EBIT (earnings before interest and taxes) from con-
tinuing operations in the first half of 2015 stood at minus 
EUR 1.7 million (first half 2014: EUR 8.2 million). 
 Group EBIT from continuing operations in the 
second quarter of 2015 was minus EUR 1.8 million (second 
quarter 2014: EUR 4.5 million).

After adjusting for exceptional items related to stock option 
plans, personnel provisions and settlements, Group operating 
EBIT from continuing operations stood at EUR 0.8 million in the 
first half of 2015, a decline of 88.2 percent compared with the 
figure of EUR 6.8 million in the first half of 2014. 
 After adjusting for exceptional items related to stock 
option plans, personnel provisions and settlements, Group ope-
rating EBIT from continuing operations in the second quarter of  
2015 was down from EUR 3.1 million in 2014 to minus 
EUR 1.1 million.

The consolidated financial result from continuing operations in 
the first half of 2015 stood at minus EUR 0.7 million compared 
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with minus EUR 2.4 million in the same period of 2014. 
The consolidated financial result from continuing ope-
rations in the second quarter of 2015 stood at minus 
EUR 0.4 million compared with minus EUR 1.4 million in the 
same quarter of 2014.

This was due to a reduction of EUR 1.8 million in financial 
expenses, primarily as a result of lower dividend payments 
to minority interests (down EUR 1.0 million) following the 
complete takeover of WebAssets B.V. in 2014 and a reduction of 
EUR 0.5 million in loan interest expenses.

Group EBT (earnings before taxes) from continuing opera-
tions stood at minus EUR 2.3 million in the first half of 2015 
(first half 2014: EUR 5.8 million).
 Group EBT from continuing operations in the second 
quarter of 2015 was minus EUR 2.2 million (second quarter 
2014: EUR 3.2 million).

After adjusting for exceptional items related to stock option 
plans, Group operating EBT from continuing operations stood 
at EUR 0.2 million in the first half of 2015, down 95.5 percent 
compared with EUR 4.4 million in the same period of 2014.
 After adjusting for exceptional items related to stock 
option plans, Group operating EBT from continuing operations 
in the second quarter of 2015 was minus EUR 1.4 million (se-
cond quarter 2014: EUR 1.7 million).

Consolidated profit/(loss) after taxes from continuing opera-
tions ended the first half-year period at minus EUR 3.0 million 
compared with EUR 3.7 million in the first half of 2014.
 Consolidated profit/(loss) after taxes from continuing 
operations in the second quarter declined from EUR 2.1 million 
in 2014 to minus EUR 2.3 million in the current financial year.

Consolidated operating profit/(loss) after taxes from 
continuing operations ended the first half-year period at minus 
EUR 0.5 million compared with EUR 2.3 million in the first half 
of 2014.
 Consolidated operating profit/(loss) after taxes from 
continuing operations in the second quarter declined from 
EUR 0.6 million in 2014 to minus EUR 1.5 million in the current 
financial year.

Consolidated profit/(loss) after taxes from discontinued 
operations for the first half of 2015 was EUR 17.3 million 
(first half 2014: minus EUR 4.4 million). This total is made 
up of the Group’s earnings after taxes from its discontinued 
Publishing segment (EUR 20.4 million) and its discontinued 
Subscription segment (minus EUR 3.1 million). The figure for 
Group earnings after taxes in the first half of 2014 included 
earnings from the following discontinued operations: ‘Publi-

shing’ (minus EUR 1.5 million), ‘French travel market’ (minus 
EUR 2.3 million), ‘B2B’ (EUR 0.3 million) and ‘Subscription’ 
(minus EUR 0.8 million).
 Consolidated profit/(loss) after taxes from dis-
continued operations for the second quarter of 2015 was 
EUR 17.4 million (second quarter 2014: minus EUR 0.3 mil-
lion). This second-quarter total is made up of the Group’s ear-
nings after taxes from the discontinued Publishing segment 
(EUR 22.0 million) and the discontinued Subscription seg-
ment (minus EUR 4.7 million after an exceptional write-down of 
EUR 3.8 million). The figure for Group earnings after taxes in the 
second quarter of 2014 included earnings from the following 
discontinued operations: ‘Publishing’ (EUR 0.1 million), ‘French 
travel market’ (minus EUR 1.1 million), ‘B2B’ (EUR 0.2 million) 
and ‘Subscription’ (EUR 0.5 million).

Consolidated profit/(loss) after taxes for the first half of 2015 
was EUR 14.3 million (first half 2014: minus EUR 0.6 million). 
 Consolidated profit/(loss) after taxes for the second 
quarter of 2015 was EUR 15.1 million (second quarter 2014: 
EUR 1.8 million).

After adjusting for exceptional items related to LTI 
programmes, personnel provisions and settlements, the Group 
operating profit/(loss) after taxes for the first half of 2015 was 
EUR 16.8 million (first half 2014: minus EUR 2.1 million). 
 After adjusting for exceptional items related to LTI 
programmes, personnel provisions and settlements, the Group 
operating profit/(loss) after taxes for the second quarter 
of 2015 was EUR 15.9 million (second quarter 2014: 
EUR 0.3 million).

Consolidated comprehensive income for the first six 
months of 2015 was EUR 14.3 million compared with minus 
EUR 0.6 million for the same period of 2014. 
 The corresponding total for the second quar-
ter of 2015 was EUR 15.1 million (second quarter 2014: 
EUR 1.8 million).

Consolidated earnings per share from continuing operations 
stood at minus EUR 0.05 for the first half of 2015 compared 
with EUR 0.06 in the first six months of 2014. 
 Consolidated earnings per share from continuing 
operations in the second quarter of 2015 were EUR 0.26 
(second quarter 2014: EUR 0.03).

Consolidated operating earnings per share from continuing 
operations stood at minus EUR 0.01 for the first half of 2015 
compared with EUR 0.04 in the first six months of 2014. 
Consolidated operating earnings per share from continuing 
operations in the second quarter of 2015 were minus EUR 0.03 
(second quarter 2014: EUR 0.01).
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Consolidated earnings per share from discontinued 
operations stood at EUR 0.30 for the first half of 2015 compa-
red with minus EUR 0.07 in the first six months of 2014. 
 Consolidated earnings per share from discontinued 
operations in the second quarter of 2015 were EUR 0.30 
(second quarter 2014: minus EUR 0.01).

Consolidated earnings per share from all operations stood 
at EUR 0.25 for the first half of 2015 compared with minus 
EUR 0.01 in the first six months of 2014. 
 Consolidated earnings per share from all operations 
in the second quarter of 2015 were EUR 0.26 (second quarter 
2014: EUR 0.03).

Notes to other items in the statement of income

The TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s other income for the first six 
months declined from EUR 3.3 million in the first half of 2014 
to EUR 1.7 million in the period under review.
 In the second quarter of 2015, other income stood at 
EUR 0.5 million (second quarter 2014: EUR 2.7 million).
 In the second quarter of 2014, the decision by 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG to exercise its existing put/call option 
before maturity led to the cancellation of the purchase price 
obligation for the put/call option which had been compounded 
up to the transfer date. This produced non-recurring income of 
EUR 1.6 million.

Other own work capitalised for the first six months sho-
wed a modest increase from EUR 1.5 million in 2014 to 
EUR 1.6 million in the current financial year.
 In the second quarter of 2015, this item fell slightly 
year-on-year from EUR 0.9 million in 2014 to EUR 0.8 million.

Cost of materials at the TOMORROW FOCUS Group stood at 
EUR 4.7 million in the first half of financial 2015, a slight increase 
on the half-year figure of EUR 4.6 million in the previous year.
 In the second quarter, cost of materials rose from 
EUR 2.0 million in 2014 to EUR 2.3 million in 2015

The TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s personnel costs for 
the first half-year increased to EUR 17.5 million from 
EUR 13.0 million in 2014. 
 The corresponding figure for the second quarter was 
 EUR 8.1 million (second quarter 2014: EUR 6.5 million).
This was primarily due to an increase of EUR 1.0 million 
(non-recurring income of EUR 0.4 million in the second quar-
ter of 2015) for additions to employee stock option plans and 
the revaluation of existing commitments under those plans; an 
increase in the total workforce from 372 to 387; and provisions 
for pensions and settlements totalling EUR 1.3 million (of which, 
EUR 1.1 million in the second quarter of 2015).  

Depreciation and amortisation of tangible and intangible 
assets was up from EUR 2.9 million in the first half of 2014 to 
EUR 3.2 million in the period under review. 
 In the second quarter, this item rose from 
EUR 1.4 million in 2014 to EUR 1.6 million in the current fi-
nancial year.

Other operating expenses at the TOMORROW FOCUS Group 
for the first half of 2015 stood at EUR 34.3 million compared 
with EUR 29.0 million over the same period in 2014. This was 
mainly due to higher marketing and sales costs, which rose by 
EUR 3.7 million.
 In the second quarter, other operating expenses 
rose from EUR 13.1 million in 2014 to EUR 15.4 million. 
Here, too, the main factor was an increase of EUR 2.3 million in 
marketing and sales costs. 

At EUR 0.7 million, actual taxes in the first six months of 2015 
were down from the total of EUR 2.1 million in the same period 
of 2014.
 Actual taxes in the second quarter of 2015 were 
EUR 0.1 million (second quarter 2014: EUR 1.1 million).
This was mainly due to lower taxable earnings at HolidayCheck 
AG and WebAssets B.V. and a corresponding reduction in tax 
expenses.

2.2.2.1.3  Segment information

There follows a breakdown of the earnings situation in each of 
the business segments for the first half of financial 2015.

Travel segment 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s subsidiaries in the Benelux coun-
tries – WebAssets B.V. (Zoover) and Tomorrow Travel B.V. 
(Tjingo) – faced a sluggish macro-economic situation and 
above all weak sector growth rates. Against this background 
and despite strong competition, revenue in the first half-year 
at WebAssets B.V. – with its travel portal Zoover and weather 
portals – was only slightly down year on year. However, the 
company’s transformation process led to a double-digit per-
centage decrease in its operating result compared with the 
same period in 2014. 

Tomorrow Travel B.V. which operates the online travel agency 
Tjingo, managed to reduce its operating loss despite a sharp 
decline in revenue. 

By contrast, based on TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s own esti-
mates, the travel sector in the German-speaking area (Aus-
tria, Germany and Switzerland) generated moderate growth. 
At HolidayCheck AG, which operates in this region, revenue 
was up by around 7 percent. Another factor affecting the travel 
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market in the German-speaking area in the first half of 2015 
was tough marketing competition between the leading travel 
portal operators. This helped to drive up prices for Google’s 
auction-based AdWords service by a substantial margin, thus 
increasing HolidayCheck’s marketing costs. The appreciation of 
the Swiss franc against the euro reduced HolidayCheck AG’s 
operating result by EUR 1.7 million. In percentage terms, this 
meant a double-digit fall in earnings compared with the first 
half of 2014.

At EUR 7.0 million, overall Travel segment EBITDA for the first half 
of 2015 was down by EUR 5.6 million on the same period in 2014. 
Segment EBITDA for the second quarter of 2015 stood at 
EUR 2.0 million (second quarter 2014: EUR 6.0 million). 

At EUR 3.9 million, Travel segment EBIT for the first half of 2015 
was down by EUR 6.0 million on the same period in 2014 as 
a result of a small year-on-year increase of EUR 0.4 million in 
write-downs. 

Segment EBIT for the second quarter of 2015 was 
EUR 0.4 million (second quarter 2014: EUR 4.6 million). 

Holding/Other segment

EBITDA for the non-operating Holding/Other segment came 
to minus EUR 5.4 million in the first half of 2015 compared 
with minus EUR 1.5 million in the same period of 2014. f  
 Segment EBITDA in the second quarter of 2015 
was minus EUR 2.2 million (second quarter 2014: minus 
EUR 0.1 million).

EBIT for the Holding/Other segment was minus 
EUR 5.5 million in the first half of 2015 compared with 
minus EUR 1.6 million in the same period of 2014.         f  

Segment EBIT in the second quarter of 2015  was 
minus EUR 2.3 million (second quarter 2014: minus 
EUR 0.1 million).

2.2.2.1.4 Balances transferred to Group EBITDA and 
Group operating EBITDA

The following table provides additional information on excepti-
onal items that have an impact on the operating result and on 
earnings before taxes. The balances are transferred to Group 
EBITDA and Group operating EBITDA (both from continuing 
operations). We use Group operating EBITDA as a key perfor-
mance indicator. (see table below)

2.2.2.2  Asset and financial position 

Financial management objectives 
The main financial management objective of the TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group is to safeguard liquidity at all times in order to 
ensure that the Group is able to perform its day-to-day business 
operations. Another objective is the optimisation of profitability 
to attain the maximum possible credit rating with a view to ob-
taining favourable refinancing terms.

2.2.2.2.1 Liquidity

Cash flows
The following section contains an analysis of cash flows from 
operating, investing and financing activities in the first half of 
2015 and the first half of 2014.

Net cash from operating activities in the first half of 2015 was 
minus EUR 2.8 million compared with EUR 3.3 million in the 
same period of 2014. This change was mainly due to a decline 
in the operating result.

Balances transferred to Group EBITDA and Group operating EBITDA

1 JAN 2015 to 
30 JUNE 2015

in EUR ‘000

1 JAN 2014 to 
30 JUNE 2014

in EUR ‘000

Operating result -1,654 8,249

Plus: 
depreciation and amortisation of tangible and intangible assets 3,239 2,861

Group EBITDA 1,585 11,110

Minus/Plus: 
additions/revaluations (employee stock option plans) 1,214 -1,587

Provisions for settlements and pensions 1,290 160
Group operating EBITDA 4,089 9,683
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Net cash from investing activities stood at EUR 22.2 million in 
the first half of 2015 following the sale of TFP. The correspon-
ding figure for the first half of 2014 was minus EUR 5.1 million. 

Net cash from financing activities in the first half of 2015 was 
minus EUR 24.0 million compared with minus EUR 4.4 million 
in the same period of 2014. This change was due to the sale 
of TFP, which provided additional cash resources and con-
sequently reduced the need to draw on the syndicated loan.

As a result, cash and cash equivalents at the end of the first half 
of 2015 stood at EUR 22.2 million, up from EUR 19.8 million 
as at 30 June 2014.

2.2.2.2.2 Asset position

On the assets side of the consolidated balance sheet, 
non-current assets were down by 20.4 percent from 
EUR 177.5 million at the end of 2014 to EUR 141.4 million 
as at 30 June 2015. This was due to the deconsolidation 
of the Group’s Publishing business and the treatment of its  
Subscription business as assets of discontinued operations 
held for sale.

At EUR 88.9 million, current assets as at 30 June 2015 were 
57.7 percent higher compared with the year-end figure of 
EUR 56.4 million.
 The main factor here was a new balance sheet item  
Assets of discontinued operations ’held for sale’ totalling 
EUR 34.6 million.

On the liabilities side of the consolidated balance sheet, equity 
was EUR 140.7 million as at 30 June 2015, which is 12.2 per-
cent higher than the 2014 year-end figure of EUR 125.5 million.
The sale of the Group’s publishing activities boosted conso-
lidated retained earnings, which rose by EUR 12.2 million to 
EUR 0.2 million. Accordingly, the equity ratio rose over the 
period from the year-end figure of 53.7 percent to  
61.1 percent as at 30 June 2015.

Non-current liabilities fell sharply by 66.5 percent from  
EUR 65.8 million as at 31 December 2014 to EUR 22.0 million 
at the end of the period under review.
 The main factor here was a decrease of 
EUR 44.5 million to EUR 10.0 million in liabilities to banks, 
partly due to the reclassification as current of liabilities totalling 
EUR 24.5 million and partly due to the repayment of existing 
loans of EUR 20 million out of the cash generated from the 
sale of the Group’s publishing activities.

Current liabilities rose by 58.3 percent from EUR 42.7 million 
at the end of 2014 to EUR 67.5 million as at 30 June 2015.
 This was mainly due to the reclassification of formerly 
non-current liabilities to banks as current liabilities.
 
The figure for total liabilities ended the first half-year 17.4 per-
cent lower at EUR 89.6 million compared with the year-end 
figure of EUR 108.4 million.

Total assets fell by 1.5 percent from EUR 233.9 million at the 
end of 2014 to EUR 230.3 million as at 30 June 2015.

The relationship between items in the balance sheet shows a 
shift towards a considerably higher equity ratio. Current liabi-
lities are covered entirely by current assets, while non-current 
assets are covered entirely by equity and non-current liabilities.

3.  Events after the balance sheet date

On 6 August 2015, the original Group forecast for financial 
2015 was revised in light of the major changes to the Group 
structure described in section 4.1.3 of this Group Management 
Report.
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4.   Report on expected developments, 
opportunities and risks

4.1  Report on expected developments  

4.1.1 Expected macro-economic developments

According to Deutsche Bank’s global market research report, 
the TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s core sales markets will 
experience a modest economic recovery in the current finan-
cial year. Inflation-adjusted gross domestic product (GDP) 
in the Netherlands should rise by 1.9 percent (GDP 2014: 
0.9 percent). The analysts predict inflation-adjusted growth in 
Belgian GDP of 1.3 percent (GDP 2014: 1.1 percent). Agai 
after adjusting for inflation, economic growth in Austria should 
reach 0.5 percent (GDP 2014: 0.3 percent). The forecast 
for Germany is 1.6 percent (GDP 2014: 1.6 percent), while 
Switzerland’s total output is expected to grow by 0.8 percent 
(GDP 2014: 2.0 percent). 
 The GDP figures quoted above are based on esti-
mates derived from Deutsche Bank’s global market research 
and were published on 17 July 2015.

4.1.2  Expected industry developments 

For the current year, TOMORROW FOCUS AG again antici-
pates moderate revenue growth in the core markets served 
by the transaction-based travel portals in the Travel segment. 
The main factor here will be the moderate economic recovery 
forecast for the sales markets served by those travel portals 
(see section 4.1.1 of this Group management report) and the 
corresponding likelihood of a moderate increase in consumer 
demand for travel. 
 At the same time, the company anticipates strong 
and sustained competitive pressures, primarily as a result of 
continued high levels of spending by competitors on marketing 
and the entry of new competitors into the market. In the medium 
term, a possible trend towards consolidation could lead to some 
easing of the competitive situation and to a corresponding re-
duction in marketing expenditure.
 Although HolidayCheck AG is based in the Swiss 
town of Bottighofen, it generates most of its sales revenue in the 
euro area. However, important costs such as salaries and rents 
are paid in Swiss francs, so any appreciation in the Swiss franc 
vis-à-vis the euro will have a negative impact on the segment’s 
and the Group’s earnings. Based on an exchange rate of CHF 
1.20 to EUR 1.00 in line with current estimates, a 5 percent 
increase in the value of the Swiss franc (i.e. CHF 1.14 to EUR 
1.00) would reduce each year’s earnings by around EUR 1.0 
million. A 10 percent increase in the value of the Swiss franc (i.e. 
CHF 1.08 to EUR 1.00) would reduce each year’s earnings by 

around EUR 2.2 million, while a 15 percent increase in the value 
of the Swiss franc (i.e. CHF 1.02 to EUR 1.00) would reduce 
each year’s earnings by around EUR 3.5 million.

The above assessments of expected industry developments 
are based on the Group’s own estimates.

4.1.3  TOMORROW FOCUS Group

Against this background, the Management Board of TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS AG has decided to concentrate strategically 
on sustainable measures to accelerate growth in customer 
numbers and revenue across its existing Travel segment ope-
rations in the German-speaking area (Germany, Austria and 
Switzerland) and the Benelux countries. To this end, over the 
next 18 months it will scale up investment in a range of product 
and marketing campaigns designed to attract new and retain 
existing customers. The company wants to harness the poten-
tial of new target groups and persuade existing customers to 
use its portals more frequently to make their holiday bookings.
 In view of the fundamental changes in the Group’s 
structure, the original forecast for 2015 has now been revised 
as follows:

4.1.3.1  Sales revenue

In percentage terms, TOMORROW FOCUS AG aims to ge-
nerate mid-to-high single digit revenue growth in the Group’s 
continuing operations (revenue 2014: EUR 100.1 million).

4.1.3.2  Profitability

For the current financial year, TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s objec-
tive is for Group operating EBITDA to at least reach the break-
even point. Further information on Group operating EBITDA 
can be found in section 2.2.2.1.4 Balances transferred to Group 
EBITDA and Group operating EBITDA.
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4.1.4  Overall assessment of 
likely developments

TOMORROW FOCUS AG expects the overall growth picture 
for its markets in 2015 to be positive on the back of moderate 
economic growth. At the same time, however, those markets 
will remain challenging as a result of much greater competitive 
pressures linked to increased spending on marketing and the 
entry of new competitors into the market. Accordingly, TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS AG believes that growth in consolidated revenue 
from continuing operations in financial 2015 will be in a range 
between mid- and high single digits in percentage terms. 
On this basis, Group operating EBITDA should at least reach 
the break-even point.
 The potential effects of legal and regulatory issues 
have not been factored in to these forecasts. In response to the 
opportunities (see section 4.3.1 et seq of the 2014 Group ma-
nagement report) and risks (section 4.2.2 of the 2014 Group 
management report) outlined below, the actual results of the 
TOMORROW FOCUS Group and its individual segments may 
vary in either direction from these forecasts.

4.2  Risk and opportunities report

The risks and opportunities previously associated with the 
Group’s now discontinued operations no longer apply. Other-
wise, since the beginning of the current financial year there have 
been no significant changes within the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group in terms of risks and opportunities that might affect its 
future performance. 
 A detailed review of material risks and opportunities 
can be found on page 84 of the annual report for 2014, which 
can be downloaded in English and in German from the internet 
at www.tomorrow-focus.com under the heading Investor Rela-
tions/Reports. Printed copies are also available free of charge 
from the company on request.

5.  Employees

The average headcount for the TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s 
continuing operations in the first half of 2015 was 387 full-time 
equivalents (FTEs). The corresponding figure for the first half of 
2014 (continuing operations only) was 372 FTEs. On average, 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG employed 26 FTEs during the first 
half of 2015 (first half 2014: 29 FTEs), including the members 
of the Management Board. 

The employees of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group worked in 
the following segments (average figures for the first half-year):

Travel  361 (first half 2014: 342)
Holding/Other  26 (first half 2014: 29)   
  
The TOMORROW FOCUS Group‘s personnel costs amounted 
to EUR 17.5 million in the first half of financial 2015 compared 
with EUR 13.0 million in the same period of 2014.

6.  Notes and forward-looking statements

Definitions  

All mentions of ‘TOMORROW FOCUS AG’, ‘the group of com-
panies’ or ‘the Group’ in this management report relate to the 
TOMORROW FOCUS Group.

Forward-looking statements 

This management report contains statements relating to fu-
ture business and financial performance and future events or 
developments concerning TOMORROW FOCUS that may 
constitute forward-looking statements. These statements 
may be identified by words such as ‘expects’, ‘looks forward 
to’, ‘anticipates’, ‘intends’, ‘plans’, ‘believes’, ‘seeks’, ‘estimates’, 
‘will’, ‘project’ or words of similar meaning. We may also make 
forward-looking statements in other reports, in presentations, 
in material delivered to shareholders and in media releases. 
In addition, our representatives may from time to time make 
oral forward-looking statements. Such statements are ba-
sed on current expectations and certain assumptions of the 
TOMORROW FOCUS management team, and are, therefore, 
subject to various risks and uncertainties. Numerous fac-
tors, many of which are beyond the control of TOMORROW 
FOCUS, nevertheless affect its operations, performance, busi-
ness strategy and results and could cause the Group’s actual 
results, performance or achievements to be materially diffe-
rent from those expressed or implied in such forward-looking 
statements or anticipated on the basis of historical trends. 
These factors include in particular, but are not limited to, the mat-
ters described in section 4.2.2 of this report under the heading 
Risks. Further information about risks and uncertainties affecting 
TOMORROW FOCUS can be found in this report and in our 
most recent earnings release, both of which are available on 
our website at www.tomorrow-focus.com. Should one or more 
of these risks or uncertainties materialise, or should underlying 
assumptions prove incorrect, the actual results, performance 
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Bestätigungsvermerk des
Abschlussprüfers

or achievements of TOMORROW FOCUS may vary materially 
from those described in the corresponding forward-looking 
statements as being expected, anticipated, intended, planned, 
believed, sought, estimated or projected. TOMORROW FOCUS 
neither intends, nor assumes any obligation, to update or re-
vise these forward-looking statements in light of developments 
which differ from those anticipated. 
 Due to rounding, numbers presented throughout this 
and other documents may not add up precisely to the totals 
shown, and percentages may not precisely reflect the absolute 
figures.

Munich, Germany, 6 August 2015

TOMORROW FOCUS AG

Dr Dirk Schmelzer 
Chief Financial Officer

Christoph Schuh
Management Board Member 



24

TOMORROW FOCUS AG | Q2 2015

C O N S O L I DAT E D  B A L A N C E  S H E ET

Consolidated Balance Sheet

ASSETS 
30 JUN 2015

in EUR ‘000
30 JUN 2014

in EUR ‘000
31 DEC 2014

in EUR ‘000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

Intangible assets 
Concessions, industrial property rights and similar rights and 
assets as well as licences to such rights and assets

 
22,024

 
36,107

 
31,421

Software developed in-house 9,841 14,246 14,912
Goodwill 103,551 134,382 123,296
Prepayments 0 152 72

135,416 184,887 169,701
Property, plant and equipment
Property and equivalent rights 21 1 0
Other plant, furniture and fixtures 2,830 4,053 3,815
Prepayments 0 0 30

2,851 4,054 3,845
Financial assets 
Shares in affiliated entities 4 31 31
Long-term equity investments 0 459 459
Other loans receivable 1,350 1,069 1,350

1,354 1,559 1,840
Receivables and other assets 
Other assets 734 580 868

734 580 868
Deferred taxes 1,036 2,170 1,263
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 141,391 193,250 177,517

CURRENT ASSETS 

Receivables and other assets 
Trade receivables 25,685 33,860 26,122
Receivables from long-term construction contracts 0 374 0
Receivables from affiliated entities 4,937 1,569 407
Receivables from long-term investees and investors 0 0 69
Income tax receivables 113 7 19
Other assets 1,681 5,755 3,134

32,416 41,565 29,751
Cash and cash equivalents 21,942 19,790 26,640
Assets from discontinued operations held for sale 34,566 0 0

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 88,924 61,355 56,391

TOTAL ASSETS 230,315 254,605 233,908

AS SET 30 JUNE 2015
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EQUIT Y AND LIABILITIES 
30 JUN 2015

in EUR ‘000
30 JUN 2014

in EUR ‘000
31 DEC 2014

in EUR ‘000

EQUIT Y

Subscribed capital 58,314 58,314 58,314
Capital reserves 84,808 84,808 84,808
Other reserves -2,552 -2,459 -2,556
Consolidated retained earnings 174 -12,037 -15,073

140,744 128,626 125,493
TOTAL EQUIT Y 140,744 128,626 125,493

LIABILITIES 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 2,124 1,150 1,796
Deferred taxes 5,743 5,977 5,663
Liabilities to banks 10,000 42,590 54,500
Trade payables 58 0 58
Other liabilities 4,121 10,263 3,741
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 22,046 59,980 65,758

CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Other provisions 866 1,068 1,189
Liabilities to banks 24,751 12,928 842
Trade payables 9,756 16,936 12,174
Liabilities to affiliated entities 5,009 1,768 3,532
Income tax liabilities 1,111 2,024 1,977
Other liabilities 12,052 31,275 22,943
Liabilities related to assets from discontinued operations held for sale 13,980 0 0
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 67,525 65,999 42,657
TOTAL LIABILITIES 89,571 125,979 108,415

TOTAL EQUIT Y AND LIABILITIES 230,315 254,605 233,908
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C O N S O L I DAT E D  STAT E M E N T  O F  C O M P R E H E N S I V E  I N C O M E

Consolidated statement 
of income

FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY TO 30 JUNE 2015

1 JAN - 30 JUN
2015

in EUR ‘000

1 JAN - 30 JUN
2014

in EUR ‘000 1)

Revenue 54,681 52,912

Other income 1,735 3,339

Other own work capitalised 1,572 1,456

Cost of materials -4,671 -4,593

Personnel costs -17,472 -13,041
Depreciation and amortisation of tangible and intangible assets -3,239 -2,861
Other expenses -34,258 -28,961
Other taxes -2 -2
Operating result (EBIT) -1,654 8,249

Financial income 117 135
Financial expenses -787 -2,564
Financial result -670 -2,429

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations before taxes -2,324 5,820

Actual taxes -718 -2,229
Deferred taxes 22 135
Tax result -696 -2,094

Consolidated profit/(loss) after taxes from continuing operations -3,020 3,726

Consolidated profit/(loss) after taxes from discontinued operations 17,332 -4,368

Consolidated profit/(loss) after taxes 14,312 -642

Consolidated net profit/(loss) attributable to  
equity holders of the parent company 14,312 -642

14,312 -642

in EUR in EUR

Basic and diluted earnings per share 
from continuing operations -0.05 0.06

Basic and diluted earnings per share 
from discontinuing operations 0.30 -0.07

Average number of shares outstanding 58,313,628 58,313,628

1 APR - 30 JUN 
2015

in EUR ‘000

1 APR - 30 JUN 
2014 

in EUR ‘000 1)

24,265 24,071

475 2,665

821 884

-2,333 -1,993

-8,091 -6,542
-1,611 -1,444

-15,351 -13,097
0 0

-1,825 4,544

101 61
-454 -1,445
-353 -1,384

-2,178 3,160

-99 -1,108
24 45

-75 -1,063

-2,253 2,097

17,388 -341

15,135 1,756

  
15,135 1,756

15,135 1,756

in EUR in EUR

-0.04 0.04

0.30 -0.01

58,313,628 58,313,628
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Note
1)  Adjusted for the effects resulting from application of IFRS 5. Explanation in the notes to the consolidated financial statements (5)
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Other comprehensive income

FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY TO 30 JUNE 2015

1 JAN - 30 JUN
2015

in EUR ‘000

1 JAN - 30 JUN
2014

in EUR ‘000

Consolidated profit/(loss) after taxes 14,312 -642

Items subject to possible reclassification to 
the statement of income in the future 4 119

Currency translation differences 4 0
Cash flow hedges 0 119

changes in fair value recognised in equity 0 83
transferred to the income statement 0 93
deferred taxes on cash flow hedges 0 -57

Other comprehensive income/(loss) 4 119

Consolidated comprehensive income/(loss) 14,316 -523

Consolidated income/(loss) attributable to 
equity holders of the parent company 14,316 -523

14,316 -523

1 APR - 30 JUN 
2015

in EUR ‘000

1 APR - 30 JUN 
2014 

in EUR ‘000 

15,135 1,756

-7 66

-7 1
0 65
0 6
0 93
0 -34

-7 66

15,128 1,822

15,128 1,822

15,128 1,822

27
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C O N S O L I DAT E D  STAT E M E N T  O F  C H A N G E S  I N  EQ U I T Y

Consolidated statement of 
changes in equity

FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY TO 30 JUNE 2015

28

EQUIT Y ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUIT Y HOLDERS OF THE PARENT COMPANY 

OTHER RESERVES 

Subscribed 
capital

in EUR ‘000

capital-
reserves 

in EUR ‘000

Reserves for the 
revaluation of 

defined-benefit 
pension plans 

in EUR ‘000

Reserves for 
currency trans-

lation differences
in EUR ‘000

Reserves for
cash flow hedges

in EUR ‘000

1 January 2014 58,314 84,808 -162 -2,102 -314

Profit/(loss) after taxes according to 
consolidated statement of income  0 0 0 0 0

Other comprehensive income/(loss) 
according to consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 119

Consolidated comprehensive 
income/(loss) 0 0 0 0 119

Distribution 0 0 0 0 0
30 June 2014 58,314 84,808 -162 -2,102 -195

1 January 2015 58,314 84,808 -448 -2,108 0

Profit/(loss) after taxes according to 
consolidated statement of income 0 0 0 0 0

Other comprehensive income/(loss) 
according to consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income 0 0 0 4 0

Consolidated comprehensive 
income/(loss) 0 0 0 4 0 

Change in reporting entity 0 0 0 0 0

30 June 2015 58,314 84,808 -448 -2,104 0
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Consolidated 
retained earnings

in EUR ‘000
TOTAL

in EUR ‘000

TOTAL 
equity 

in EUR ‘000

1 January 2014 -7,896 132,648 132,648

Profit/(loss) after taxes according to 
consolidated statement of income  -642 -642 -642

Other comprehensive income/(loss) according to  
consolidated statement of comprehensive income 0 119 119

Consolidated comprehensive 
income/(loss) -642 -523 -523

Distribution -3,499 -3,499 -3,499
30 June 2014 -12,037 128,626 128,626

1 January 2015 -15,073 125,493 125,493

Profit/(loss) after taxes according to 
consolidated statement of income 14,312 14,312 14,312

Other comprehensive income/(loss) according to  
consolidated statement of comprehensive income 0 4 4

Consolidated comprehensive 
income/(loss) 14,312 14,316 14,316

Change in reporting entity 935 935 935

30 June 2015 174 140,744 140,744

EQUIT Y ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUIT Y HOLDERS OF THE 
PARENT COMPANY 
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Consolidated statement 
of cash flows
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY TO 30 JUNE 2015

1 JAN - 30 JUN  
2015 

in EUR ‘000

1 JAN - 30 JUN  
2014 

in EUR ‘000

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Consolidated profit/(loss) after taxes 14,312 -642

Adjustments for translation of profit/(loss) 
after taxes to inflows/outflows 

- Financial income -113 -24
+ Financial expenses 834 2,670
+ Depreciation and amortisation of tangible and intangible assets 1) 7,929 4,685

 +/- Effects of deconsolidation -20,534 0
 +/- Personnel costs resulting from long-term incentive plans and stock option programmes 1,215 43
 +/- Cash outflow for performance-based payments previously recognised as expenses -1,098 497
 -/+ Exchange rate-related revaluation or devaluation of currency holdings -86 27
 -/+ Unrealised gains or losses on financial assets 26 -20
-/+ Changes in deferred taxes 250 62
+/- Changes in provisions for pensions and similar obligations 328 160

= Operating result before changes in net working capital 3,063 7,458

 -/+ Gains/(losses) from disposal of non-current assets -12 11

-/+ Increase/decrease in assets 
not attributable to investing or financing activities -8,938 -5,258

+/– Increase/decrease in liabilities 
not attributable to investing or financing activities 5,987 6,790

–/+ Changes in receivables from/liabilities to affiliated entities 
as well as to other long-term investees and investors -1,673 -2,534

+/– Other non-cash expenses/income 2) 0 -1,587

= Changes in net working capital -4,636 -2,578
= Cash from current operations -1,573 4,880
- Interest expenses -1,183 -1,585
= Net cash from operating activities -2,756 3,295

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

 + Cash inflow from disposal of tangible and intangible assets 2 3
- Cash outflow for investment in tangible and intangible assets -4,887 -5,140
+ Cash inflow from interest 4 17
+ Cash inflow from disposal of financial assets 225 3

+/- Cash inflow from disposal of previously consolidated entities less cash sold 3) 26,835 0

= Net cash used in investing activities 22,179 -5,117

30

C O N S O L I DAT E D  STAT E M E N T  O F  C AS H  F LO W S



31

TOMORROW FOCUS AG | Q2 2015

Additional information 
In the financial year 2015, there were tax outflows of EUR 2,509 thousand  
in 2014: EUR 2,543 thousand) and tax inflows from reimbursed 
income taxes ofEUR 19 thousand (in 2014: EUR 64 thousand).

Notes
1)  This amount includes EUR 4,690 thousand  (in 2014: EUR 1,824 thousand) for amorti-

sation and depreciation attributable to discontinued operations,
2)  The non-cash income in 2014 refers to income generated from the revaluation of put/

call option liabilities resulting from the acquisition of the remaining shares in 
WebAssets B.V.

3)   There was a Group cash inflow of EUR 26,835 thousand from the disposal of 
TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH and its subsidiaries. 
The amount shown includes the revenue figures, adjusted for cash disposed of.

 

4)   The amount shown of EUR 42 thousand refers to subsequent purchase 
price payments relating to the sale of shares in Cellular GmbH in financial 2014. 
In addition a sum of EUR 350 thousand, which resulted from the disposal of 
shares in TFT TIE Kinetix GmbH (formely TOMORROW FOCUS Technologies GmbH) 
in 2013 was reimbursed to the buyers.

5)  In the financial year, there was a cash outflow due to maturing earn-out liabilities for 
shares held in jameda GmbH, The amount shown for  2014 refers to payments made 
for the purchase of the remaining shares in WebAssets B.V.

1 JAN - 30 JUN  
2015 

in EUR ‘000

1 JAN - 30 JUN  
2014 

in EUR ‘000

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

- Dividend payments 0 -3,499
+ Cash inflow from borrowing 0 28,000
- Cash outflow for the repayment of loans -20,180 -10,380

+ Cash inflow from/outflow for purchase price payments relating 
to the disposal of previously deconsolidated entities, made in subsequent periods 4) 42 -350

- Cash outflow for purchase price payments for the aquisition of previously 
consolidated entities, made in subsequent periods 5) -3,858 -18,200

= Net cash used in financing activities -23,996 -4,429

VALUATION-RELATED CHANGES IN CASH 

+/- Change in value of cash due to closing rate changes 2 0
+/- Exchange rate-related revaluation or devaluation of currency holdings 86 -27

= Valuation-related changes in cash 88 -27

= Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents -4,485 -6,278
+ Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 26,640 26,068
= Cash at the end of the period 22,155 19,790

thereof cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations 21,942 –
thereof cash and cash equivalents related to assets from discontinued operations held for sale 213 –
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Consolidated segment report
PART OF THE NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY TO 30 JUNE 2015
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C O N S O L I DAT E D  S EG M ET  R E PO RT

TR AVEL
1 JAN - 30 JUN

2015
in EUR ‘000

2014
in EUR ‘000 1)

External revenue 54,568 52,718
Inter-company revenue 3,509 1,329

58,077 54,047

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 
and amortisation (EBITDA) 7,027 12,653

Depreciation and amortisation 3,160 2,764
SEGMENT EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST AND TA XES (EBIT) 3,867 9,889

 

HOLDING/OTHER
1 JAN - 30 JUN

2015
in EUR ‘000

2014
in EUR ‘000 1)

113 194
150 113
263 307

-5,442 -1,543

79 97

-5,521 -1,640

Note
1)  Adjusted for the effects resulting from application of IFRS 5. Explanation in the notes to the consolidated financial statements (5)
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CONSOLIDATED 
1 JAN - 30 JUN

GROUP
1 JAN - 30 JUN

2015
in EUR ‘000

2014
in EUR ‘000 1)

2015
in EUR ‘000

2014
in EUR ‘000 1)

0 0 54,681 52,912
-3,659 -1,442 0 0
-3,659 -1,442 54,681 52,912

0 0 1,585 11,110

0 0 3,239 2,861

0 0 -1,654 8,249
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Notes to consolidated 
financial statements for the  
first half of 2015
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N OT E S  TO  C O N S O L I DAT E D  F I N A N C I A L  STAT E M E N TS

1. General information

TOMORROW FOCUS AG (also referred to below as 
‘TOMORROW FOCUS’, ‘TFAG’ or ‘the Company’) is based 
in the German city of Munich. It is a stock exchange-listed 
Internet group. The main activities of the company and its 
subsidiaries are described in section 6 of these notes (Seg-
ment report).

2. Accounting basis                                        .   

This interim consolidated report was drawn up in accordance 
with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) 
and adopted by the European Union. In line with the provisions 
of IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting, the interim report ab-
breviates or omits certain information and disclosures that are 
usually contained in annual financial reports. 

Accordingly, the financial statements contained in this interim 
report do not contain all the information and disclosures that 
are required under IFRS rules for the consolidated financial 
statements at the end of the financial year.

The accounting and valuation methods adopted for these in-
terim consolidated financial statements are the same as those 
applied to the full consolidated financial statements at the end 
of the previous financial year. A full description of the accoun-
ting principles used can be found in the notes to the financial 
statements in our 2014 annual report. The report can also be 
downloaded at www.tomorrow-focus.com. 

When preparing the interim consolidated financial statements, 
the Management Board has to make assumptions and esti-
mates that affect the level and recognition of balance-sheet 
assets and liabilities, income and expenditure and contingent 
liabilities. All such assumptions and estimates are based on 
premises that were valid on the reporting date and as a general 
rule were calculated using the same methods as those applied 
for the 2014 Group annual report. The actual values may differ 
from these assumptions and estimates if developments subse-
quently vary from those anticipated on the balance sheet date. 

Although some parts of our business are seasonal, this does not 
affect the comparability of the consolidated quarterly financial 
statements as a whole. Any major effects during the reporting 
period are noted in the summary of the interim report or in the 
subsequent explanations. 

The consolidated financial statements have been drawn up in 
euros. Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts are shown in 
EUR thousand (EUR ’000).

3. Accounting method and valuation

Newly applied accounting rules 
There follows of list of new or revised IASB standards that apply 
to the TF Group. These became mandatory in financial 2015.

−  IFRIC 21 Levies
−   Annual improvements to International Reporting Standards 

(2011-2013 cycle)

IFRIC 21 Levies was published by the IASB in May 2013 and 
contains a series of rules on the accounting treatment of pay-
ment obligations to public authorities that do not constitute obli-
gations for the purposes of IAS 12 Income Taxes. With regard to 
levies of this kind, the interpretation clarifies how and in particu-
lar when provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets 
should be treated as balance sheet liabilities in accordance with 
IAS 37. The interpretation was adopted into European Union 
legislation on 14 June 2014 and became mandatory for finan-
cial years beginning on or after 17 June 2014.

In December 2013 the IASB published a number of changes 
resulting from the 2011-2013 cycle of its annual improvements 
project. These changes provide clarification of four standards: 
IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting 
Standards, IFRS 3 Business Combinations, IFRS 13 Fair Value 
Measurement and IAS 40 Investment Property. The changes 
were adopted into European Union legislation on 19 December 
2014 and must be applied (in derogation of the IASB’s manda-
tory first-time application date of 1 July 2014) by all companies 
in the European Union whose financial statements are drawn 
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up under IFRS rules for reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2015. Earlier adoption is admissible.

The current view of TOMORROW FOCUS AG is that the above 
standards and interpretations will have only a minor impact on 
the Group’s income, financial situation and assets. 

4. Reporting entity

The abbreviated interim consolidated financial statements 
include all companies over which TOMORROW FOCUS AG 
exerts direct or indirect control in terms of financial and busi-
ness policy.

The following table lists all the companies included in the interim 
consolidated financial statements of TOMORROW FOCUS AG:

Scope of consolidation as at 30 June 2015

COMPANY PRINCIPAL PLACE 
OF BUSINESS

SHAREHOLDING
in percent

TOMORROW FOCUS AG Munich, Germany –

Elitemedianet GmbH Hamburg, Germany 100.00
jameda GmbH Munich, Germany 100.00
HolidayCheck AG Bottighofen, Switzerland 100.00
HolidayCheck Polska Sp. zo.o. 1) Warsaw, Poland 100.00
Tomorrow Travel Solutions GmbH Munich, Germany 100.00
Tomorrow Travel B.V. Zeist, Netherlands 100.00
WebAssets B.V. 2) Zeist, Netherlands 98.00
Zoover Media B.V. 3)   Zeist, Netherlands 100.00
Zoover International B.V. 3)   Zeist, Netherlands 100.00
Zoover GmbH 3)   Cologne, Germany 100.00
Meteovista B.V. 3)   Zeist, Netherlands 100.00
SARL Zoover France 3)   Paris, France 100.00
Zoover International Holland Filiaal 3) 4)  Zeist, Netherlands 100.00
Zoover Internet Teknolojileri Tuzim Ticaret Ltd. 3) 4) 5)  Kusadasi, Turkey 95.00
Zoover Italia SARL3) 4) 5)  Monza, Italy 95.00
Zoover Travel B.V. 3)   Zeist, Netherlands 100.00
TF Digital GmbH Munich, Germany 100.00
organize.me GmbH Munich, Germany 100.00

Notes

1) Indirect shareholding via HolidayCheck AG
2)  A minority shareholder has a 2 percent stake; a put/call 

option is in place for buying back the shares.  
3) Indirect shareholding via WebAssets B.V. 
4)  Non-consolidated affiliated entity due to its minor importance 
5) Company in liquidation
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N OT E S  TO  C O N S O L I DAT E D  F I N A N C I A L  STAT E M E N TS

5. Discontinued operations and sale 
of subsidiaries

a) TOMORROW FOCUS AG sells publishing 
operations and withdraws from sector

On 20 March 2015, TOMORROW FOCUS AG signed an 
agreement with Burda Digital GmbH covering the sale of 
TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH. This decision reflects 
the Group’s realignment strategy, which is designed to focus 
on digital transaction-based business models, primarily in the 
travel sector. 

The closing date for the sale was 30 April 2015, at which point 
the TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing sub-group was deconso-
lidated together with its subsidiaries TOMORROW FOCUS Me-
dia GmbH, TOMORROW FOCUS News+ GmbH, TOMORROW 
FOCUS Content & Services GmbH and AdAudience GmbH. 

Following the sale, TOMORROW FOCUS AG has now wi-
thdrawn from the Publishing segment’s publishing and ad-
vertising-based activities. This move affects the web-based 
operations of Focus Online, The Huffington Post Germany, 
Finanzen100 and NetMoms as well as the digital marketing 
specialist TOMORROW FOCUS Media.

The TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing sub-group was decon-
solidated on 30 April 2015 when TOMORROW FOCUS AG lost 
control as a result of the sale. (see table below)

The total comprehensive income of EUR 20,534 thousand ge-
nerated from the sale of the subsidiary is shown in the figure for 
consolidated profit/(loss) from discontinued operations. This 
total is made up of profit on disposal of EUR 21,182 thousand 
and minus EUR 648 thousand from the resulting change to 
deferred tax assets on loss carryforwards at Group level.

Impact of deconsolidation on the Group

30 APRIL 2015
 in EUR ‘000

Intangible assets 6,626
Property, plant and equipment 546
Long-term equity investments 459
Trade receivables 5,545
Receivables from affiliated entities 522
Deferred tax assets 285
Other assets 679
Cash and cash equivalents 3,362
Disposal of assets from discontinued operations 18,024

Other provisions -5,410
Trade payables -407
Liabilities to affiliated entities -2,299
Deferred tax liabilities -875
Other liabilities -1,169
Liabilities related to disposal of assets from discontinued operations -10,160

Disposal of reserve for changes in shareholdings recognised in equity 935
Adjusted consolidated retained profit 935

Net assets disposed of 8,799

Consideration received in the form of cash 30,197
Disposal costs incurred from sale -216

Consideration received (less the costs of disposal) 29,981

Deconsolidation profit from disposal of subsidiaries 21,182

Disposal price settled in cash 30,197
Disposal of cash and cash equivalents -3,362
Net cash inflow from disposal 26,835
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b) Withdrawal from subscription business 

TOMORROW FOCUS AG has agreed to sell EliteMedianet 
GmbH, which operates the online dating agency ElitePartner, 
to THMMS Holding GmbH, a subsidiary of the private equity 
firm Oakley Capital Private Equity II. As at 30 June 2015, formal 
and legal closure of the deal remained subject to approval under 
anti-cartel legislation. 

The expected sale price for EliteMedianet GmbH is  
EUR 20,914 thousand. An amount of EUR 14,450 thousand 
is payable on completion of the sale. TOMORROW FOCUS AG 
will provide a loan with a term of up to two years to cover the 
remaining sum of EUR 6,464 thousand. 

TOMORROW FOCUS AG has also decided to initiate the sale of 
the Subscription segment’s remaining business activities ope-
rated by the subsidiaries JAMEDA GmbH and ORGANIZE.ME 
GmbH. 

The IFRS 5 valuation made necessary following the classi-
fication of these Group companies as ‘held for sale’ led to a 
provisional impairment expense of EUR 3,785 thousand, thus 
reducing the carrying values of individual non-current assets in 
the segment (impairment of EUR 2,600 thousand in the value 
of goodwill at ELITEPARTNER and of EUR 1,185 thousand in 
respect of software developed in-house at ORGANIZE.ME).

c) Withdrawal from French travel market and 
B2B operations in 2014 

The annual report of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group for the 
financial year 2014 contains detailed information on the Group’s 
withdrawal from the French travel market and from its B2B ope-
rations. This information is also reflected in the notes given 
below in accordance with accounting requirements to provide 
year-on-year comparisons.

d) Subsidiaries held for disposal

The Group’s held-for-sale ‘Subscription’ business now contains 
EliteMedianet GmbH (sale agreed pending legal and commer-
cial closure once approval has been granted under anti-cartel 
legislation) and JAMEDA GmbH and ORGANIZE.ME GmbH, 
the two remaining held-for-sale companies in the Subscription 
segment. 

Under IFRS 5 rules, the held-for-sale assets of the subsidi-
aries that make up the discontinued ‘Subscription’ business 
are shown separately in the balance sheet together with the 
corresponding liabilities. 

In accordance with IFRS 5.40, the figures for 30 June 2014 have 
not been adjusted. The main balance sheet assets held for sale 
and the corresponding liabilities as at 30 June 2015 are shown 
in the following table:

Assets and liabilities of discontinued operations

30 JUNE 2015
 in EUR ‘000

Intangible assets 24,695
Property, plant and equipment 367
Trade receivables 2,628
Receivables from affiliated entities 5,002
Other assets 1,661
Cash and cash equivalents 213
Assets of discontinued operations held for sale 34,566
Other provisions 222
Trade payables 2,851
Liabilities to affiliated entities 4,613
Other current liabilities 6,294
Liabilities related to assets of discontinued operations held for sale 13,980
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e) Impact on consolidated financial statements

On account of their importance to the earnings, assets and 
financial position of TOMORROW FOCUS AG, the subsidia-
ries and business divisions specified above as sold or held for 
sale are now classed as discontinued operations as defined 
by IFRS 5. 

As a result of their classification as discontinued operations, 
the ‘Publishing’ and ‘Subscription’ segments are shown in the 
segment reporting for 2015 as wound up. The earnings gene-
rated by these business units are added together and shown 
separately in the figure for consolidated profit/(loss) from dis-
continued operations. The comparison figures for 2014 in the 
consolidated statement of income and in the segment report 
have been adjusted accordingly.

The following table contains a breakdown of the figure for con-
solidated profit/(loss) after taxes from discontinued opera-
tions: (see table below)

Consolidated profit/(loss) from continuing operations (in-
cluding other comprehensive income) ended the first half of 
2015 at minus EUR 3,016 thousand. Total consolidated com-
prehensive income from discontinued operations stood at 
EUR 17,332 thousand.

In 2014, consolidated profit/(loss) from continuing opera-
tions (including other comprehensive income) ended the first 
half-year at EUR 3,845 thousand. Total consolidated compre-
hensive income from discontinued operations stood at minus 
EUR 4,368 thousand. (see first table on the next page)

Consolidated income/(loss) after taxes for the first six months of 2015

PUBLISHING
 in EUR ‘000

SUBSCRIPTION
 in EUR ‘000

TOTAL
 in EUR ‘000

Revenue 10,630 16,293 26,923
Other income 721 355 1,076
Other own work capitalised 170 500 670
Expenses -11,239 -20,309 -31,548
Operating results (EBIT) 282 -3,161 -2,879
Financial result -12 -39 -51
Attributable income tax expense -151 -121 -272
Profit/(loss) after taxes 119 -3,321 -3,202
Profit/(loss) from disposal of discontinued operations 21,182 0 21,182
Attributable income tax expense -648 0 -648
Result from discontinued operations 20,653 -3,321 17,332
Earnings per share (EUR) 0,35 -0,06 0,30
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In the consolidated statement of cash flows, all cash flows at-
tributable to the operating, investing and financing activities of 
discontinued operations are shown unchanged for both the first 
half of 2015 and the first half of 2014. The required disclosure 
of cash flows from discontinued operations is provided in the 
notes. 

The following tables show cash flows from the Group’s discon-
tinued operations:
 
 

Consolidated income/(loss) after taxes for the first six months of 2014

FRENCH 
TRAVEL MARKET 

 in EUR ‘000
B2B ACTIVITIES 

 in EUR ‘000
PUBLISHING

 in EUR ‘000
SUBSCRIPTION

 in EUR ‘000
TOTAL

 in EUR ‘000

Revenue 13,091 4,226 12,741 15,781 45,839

Other income 115 130 1,193 425 1,863
Other own work capitalised 249 0 318 481 1,048
Expenses -15,587 -4,085 -15,764 -17,268 -52,704

Operating result (EBIT) -2,132 271 -1,512 -581 -3,954

Financial result -196 -4 5 -22 -217
Attributable income tax expense -10 0 -9 -178 -197

Result from discontinued
operations -2,338 267 -1,516 -781 -4,368

Earnings per share (EUR) -0,04 0,00 -0,03 -0,01 -0,07

PUBLISHING
in EUR ‘000

SUBSCRIPTION
in EUR ‘000

TOTAL
in EUR ‘000

Net cash flow from operating activities 2,666 -1,213 -1,453
Net cash flow from investing activities 26,484 -419 26,065
Net cash flow from financing activities 1) 42 0 42
Net cash flow from discontinued operations 29,192 -1,632 27,560

Cash flow from discontinued operations for the first six months of 2015

FRENCH 
TRAVEL 

MARKET
in EUR ‘000

B2B  
ACTIVITIES

in EUR ‘000
PUBLISHING

in EUR ‘000

SUB-
SCRIPTION

in EUR ‘000
TOTAL

in EUR ‘000

Net cash flow from operating activities 788 1,901 -1,146 1,314 2,857
Net cash flow from investing activities -264 -115 -559 -1,215 -2,153
Net cash flow from financing activities 385 0 0 0 385
Net cash flow from discontinued operations 909 1,786 -1,705 99 1,089

Cash flow from discontinued operations for the first six months of 2014

Note 
1) Where related to equity, cash flows from the financing activities of discontinued operations have been eliminated.
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6. Segment report  

Segment reporting is based on the Group’s internal manage-
ment and reporting structures. At TOMORROW FOCUS AG, the 
allocation of resources and assessments of the profitability of 
business segments are determined by the Management Board 
as the principal decision-making body. 

The TF Group is controlled through its business divisions. Re-
flecting their respective business models, the nature of their 
products and services, their relationship with customers and 
their revenue models, these are combined into a number of 
segments that are subject to mandatory reporting rules. 

Up to 31 December 2014 the Group was made up of three 
operating segments (Travel, Publishing and Subscription) and 
one non-operating segment (Holding/Other).

The Publishing segment was wound up following the agree-
ment dated 20 March 2015 to sell TOMORROW FOCUS 
Publishing GmbH to Burda Digital GmbH and the Group’s re-
sulting withdrawal from its publishing operations. 

The TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing sub-group contained 
the Group’s publishing services. These included the news jour-
nalism and utility site FOCUS Online; the financial and stock 
market information portal Finanzen100; the parent portal Net-
Moms; and the German-language edition of The Huffington 
Post, a news portal and platform for blogs (operated by TO-
MORROW FOCUS Content & Services GmbH). The segment 
also included the business operations of TOMORROW FOCUS 
Media, which specialises in digital marketing. Following the sale 
of TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH, its contribution to 
the Group’s earnings is shown under earnings from discon-
tinued operations. The MeteoVista and Weeronline weather 
portals, which previously formed part of the Publishing seg-
ment, were allocated to the Travel segment after the Publishing 
segment was wound up. 

The Subscription segment was wound up following the sale of 
EliteMedianet GmbH (operator of the premium online dating 
agency ELITEPARTNER.de) on 8 June 2015 and the deci-
sion by TOMORROW FOCUS AG to initiate the disposal of the 
segment’s remaining companies, JAMEDA GmbH (operator of 
the physician search and rating portal JAMEDA.de) and ORGA-
NIZE.ME GmbH (operator of an app-based document storage 
and reminder system).

A new segment structure was introduced with effect from 
30 June 2015. (see table below)

SEGMENT ACTIVITIES

Travel

The Travel segment encompasses all the companies that mainly generate revenue from transaction-based online 
business models in the field of travel. These are primarily: 
•  HolidayCheck AG, Bottighofen, Switzerland
•  Tomorrow Travel Solutions GmbH, Munich, Germany
•  HolidayCheck Polska Sp. zo.o., Warsaw, Poland
•  Tomorrow Travel B.V., Zeist, Netherlands
•  WebAssets B.V. and its subsidiaries, Zeist, Netherlands

Holding/Other
Business activities that cannot be allocated to any other segment are shown under ‘Other’. 
This primarily relates to the holding company role of TOMORROW FOCUS AG and to TF Digital GmbH, both based 
in Munich, unless the expenses relate to the Group’s discontinued ‘French market’ operations.

Segment structure
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The reference figures for the previous year have been adjusted 
accordingly.

Intra-Group transactions are eliminated during consolidation. 
Revenue generated between the segments is based on normal 
market prices.

The accounting and valuation methods used to produce the 
segment information are generally identical to the accounting 
and valuation principles of the Group as a whole. 

7.   Notes to the interim consolidated 
financial statements 

Intangible assets

Intangible assets include capitalised goodwill and capitalised 
development work for mobile applications and website rede-
sign. In respect of own work capitalised a total of EUR 1,572 
thousand was recognised for the period up to 30 June 2015 
(up to 30 June 2014: EUR 1,456 thousand).

The overall reduction of EUR 169,701 thousand in intangible 
assets compared with the 2014 year-end figure is mainly due to 
the sale of the TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing sub-group and 
the reclassification of intangible assets as ‘assets held for sale’ 
in relation to the company’s withdrawal from its ‘Subscription’ 
operations. 
The total amount reclassified includes EUR 14,578 thousand 
of goodwill at EP (already reduced by EUR 2,600 thousand 
as a result of the IFRS 5 valuation); goodwill at NetMoms 
(EUR 2,555 thousand) and Finanzen100 (EUR 12 thousand); 
EUR 2,527 thousand for software developed in-house; and 
EUR 7,590 thousand in respect of intangible assets acquired 
from third parties. 

Long-term equity investments 

With regard to long-term equity investments, the change of 
EUR 459 thousand compared with the 2014 year-end figure 
is due to TFAG’s financial investment in AdAudience GmbH, 
whose shares are owned by TOMORROW FOCUS Media 
GmbH. These shares were deconsolidated following the sale 
of the TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing sub-group.

Equity

Changes in the equity of the parent company’s owners are 
shown in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Contingent capital 
The general meeting of shareholders on 16 June 2015 ad-
opted resolutions to cancel ‘Contingent capital 2010/I’ totalling 
EUR 4,842,070 and create ‘Contingent capital 2015’ of EUR 
11,600,000. This contingent capital is intended to service con-
version and option rights. The authorisation is valid up to 15 
June 2020.

Treasury shares 
The general meeting of shareholders on 16 June 2015 re-
newed the company’s authorisation (granted by the general 
meeting of shareholders on 15 June 2010) to acquire its own 
shares. The Management Board is therefore authorised to ac-
quire shares in the company worth up to a total of 10 percent of 
its share capital. The authorisation is valid up to 15 June 2020.

Share-based renumeration

Since 2011, virtual shares have been issued to members of 
the Management Board and other employees of TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG and its subsidiaries under a long-term incentive 
programme (LTIP). The virtual shares entitle the holder to a 
cash payment based on the average share price over the last 
one hundred stock exchange trading days up to the relevant 
payment date. There is no automatic entitlement to shares in 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG. Under the terms of the LTIP, vir-
tual shares are granted in annual tranches (up to and including 
2015). There is no link between these tranches.

The following table shows the amounts recognised for the LTIP 
in the interim consolidated financial statements for the first half 
of 2015. 

Other liabilities

OTHER LIABILITIES

30 JUNE 
2015

EUR ’000

31 DECEMBER 
2014

in  EUR ’000

Liabilities from 
share-based payments
with cash settlement 3,631 2,605

Total 3,631 2,605
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Liabilities to banks

CARRYING AMOUNT (EUR ’000)

30 JUNE 2015 31 DECEMBER 2014

CURRENT NON-CURRENT CURRENT NON-CURRENT

Bonded loans 14,500 0 0 14,500

Syndicated loan 10,000 10,000 0 40,000
Other liabilities to banks 251 0 842 0

24,751 10,000 842 54,500
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Additions to the LTIP in the period under review generated 
personnel costs totalling EUR 1,026 thousand (first half 2015: 
EUR 0 thousand). These were mainly due to an increase in 
the share price as the basis for valuation and additions to the 
2015 tranche. 

Liabilities to banks

The following table gives a breakdown of the Group’s liabilities 
to banks at the end of the first quarter. (see table below)

Out of TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s overall borrowing facilities, 
one part of the syndicated loan (EUR 20,000 thousand) was 
no longer used on account of the substantial cash inflow 
generated by the sale of the TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing 
sub-group. 

The syndicated loan agreement is due to expire in 2019 and 
until then provides a flexible arrangement allowing TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS AG to borrow up to EUR 50,000 thousand. 
As at 30 June 2015, TOMORROW FOCUS AG had drawn 
EUR 20,000 thousand from the total available. Out of this 
EUR 20,000, the amount repayable within the next  
12 months is EUR 10,000 thousand.

Financial expenses

The financial expenses of EUR 787 thousand (2014: 
2,564 thousand) result mainly from interest expenses of 
EUR 787 thousand (2014: EUR 1,580 thousand). Interest ex-
penses also include expenses from compounding in the sum of 
EUR 51 thousand (2014: EUR 366 thousand) and financing-re-
lated interest expenses of EUR 736 thousand (2014: EUR 1,214 
thousand). The figure for 2014 also includes dividends to former 
shareholders of WebAssets B.V. totalling EUR 984 thousand.

8.   Additional disclosures on financial 
instruments

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair 
values of financial assets and financial liabilities. (see first table 
on the right)
 Financial instruments recognised at fair value are 
divided into various classes in accordance with IFRS 7. 

These are known as the three levels of the fair value hierarchy 
and are defined as follows: 

−   level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets 
for identical assets or liabilities to which an entity has access 
on the balance sheet date;

−    level 2 inputs: other inputs (i.e. not quoted level 1 prices) 
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from other prices);

−   level 3 inputs: information for the asset or liability that is not 
based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

There have been no transfers between the different levels of 
the fair value hierarchy.

The following table shows the hierarchy of financial instruments 
measured at fair value as at 30 June 2015. (see second table 
on the right)
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The following table shows the changes in the recurrently 
assessed value of the financial liabilities attributed to level 3 
of the measurement hierarchy. (please see below)

The figure for contingent consideration includes an earn-out 
obligation of EUR 2,052 thousand from the acquisition of ad-
ditional shares in WebAssets B.V. The earn-out obligation of 
EUR 3,857 thousand from the acquisition of additional shares 
in jameda GmbH has been settled.

Recurrently assessed value of the
financial liabilities

2015
EUR ’000

As at 1 January 5,867

Effect from disbursement of 
earn-out obligation -3,857

Total profit or loss
 - recognised in financial expenses 42

As at 30 June 2,052

Financial liabilities - fair value hierarchy

30 JUNE 2015

CARRYING AMOUNT

 EUR ’000
LEVEL 1
EUR ’000

LEVEL 2
EUR ’000

LEVEL 3
EUR ’000

TOTAL
EUR ’000

OTHER LIABILITIES

Interest rate swap 184 184 0 0 184
Contingent consideration 2,052 0 0 2,052 2,052

FAIR VALUE

Financial liabilities

CARRYING AMOUNT (EUR ’000)

CARRYING AMOUNT FAIR VALUE

30 JUN 2015 31 DEC 2014 30 JUN 2015 31 DEC 2014

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

Interest rate swap 184 267 184 267
Contingent consideration 2,052 5,867 2,052 5,867

There has been no change from 31 December 2014 in the 
classes into which assets and liabilities have been broken down. 
Valuation methods and key assumptions are equally unchan-
ged. These are detailed in section 11.27 of the notes to the 
2014 consolidated financial statements, which also contains 
(under section 11.25) a detailed overview of the financial in-
struments employed by TOMORROW FOCUS AG, financial risk 
factors and the management of financial risks.



44

TOMORROW FOCUS AG | Q2 2015

44

N OT E S  TO  C O N S O L I DAT E D  F I N A N C I A L  STAT E M E N TS

9.  Related parties

As regards material transactions with related parties, there were 
no significant changes over the reporting period compared with 
the 2014 consolidated financial statements.

Once again, transactions with related entities primarily involved 
services as defined by IAS 24.21c. All such transactions were 
concluded on arm’s length basis.

In total, transactions with related parties in the first six months 
of the financial year involved trade receivables valued at 
EUR 2,221 thousand and trade payables valued at EUR 1,329 
thousand. These transactions mainly concern the discontinued 
operations of the TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing sub-group 
(up to April 2015) and the companies in the Subscription 
segment, which together accounted for trade receivables 
valued at EUR 1,947 thousand and trade payables valued at 
EUR 865 thousand.

As at 30 June 2015 receivables and payables from cur-
rent transactions of continuing and discontinued operations 
with related parties amounted to EUR 382 thousand and 
EUR 65 thousand respectively.

In addition, an agreement was signed with a related party, 
Burda Digital GmbH, on 20 March 2015 for the sale of 
TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH. Ownership of the 
shares was transferred on 30 April 2015. Further details are 
given above under the heading ‘TOMORROW FOCUS AG sells 
publishing operations and withdraws from sector’.

Munich, Germany, 6 August 2015

TOMORROW FOCUS AG

Dr. Dirk Schmelzer 
(Chief Financial Officer)

Christoph Schuh
(Management Board Member)
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F I N A N C I A L  C A L E N DA R

Financial Calendar 
2015*

Participation in the db Access European TMT Conference 2015 in London, United Kingdom

Participation in the Berenberg & Goldman Sachs German Corporate Conference 2015  
in Munich, Germany

Publication of the 3Q 2015 interim report

Analysts’ meeting at the German Equity Forum 2015 in Frankfurt am Main, Germany

3 September 2015

23 September 2015

 
6 November 2015  
 

24 November 2015

* provisional dates
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